IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

No. S250829

V.

ANTHONY LOPEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

FILED

FEB 1 3 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F074581

On Appeal from the Superior Court of California Tulare County No. VCF314447 Honorable Kathryn Montejano



APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Caitlin M. Plummer State Bar Number 309053 10556 Combie Rd., # 6685 Auburn, CA 95602 Telephone: (530) 268-1608 cplummer.lplaw@gmail.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court granted review in this case to consider the following issues:

(1) Can the prosecution charge theft and shoplifting of the same property, notwithstanding Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (b), which provides that "Any act of shoplifting as defined in subdivision (a) shall be charged as shoplifting. No person who is charged with shoplifting may also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property?"

(2) If not, was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the theft charge?

Assuming, and without prejudice to any contrary argument, that Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (b), prohibits the prosecution from charging both shoplifting and theft of the same property under any circumstances,

- (3) Did defendant forfeit the argument under Penal Code section 459.5 by failing to object to the prosecution's charging both shoplifting and theft?
- (4) If defendant had objected, what should the trial court's ruling have been? Might it have ordered the prosecution to choose between a shoplifting charge and a theft charge? If so, and given the potential difficulty in proving the intent required for shoplifting, might the prosecution have chosen to charge only petty theft with a prior? In that event, would defendant have been prejudiced by the failure to object?
- (5) Was petty theft with a prior a lesser included offense of shoplifting under the accusatory pleading test? If so, could the trial court have instructed the jury on shoplifting as the charged offense and on petty theft as a lesser included offense? (See People v. Reed (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224, 1227-1231.) If not, and assuming defendant had objected to charging both crimes, could the prosecution have moved to amend the charging document to make the theft charge a lesser included offense of shoplifting under the accusatory pleading test? If that had occurred, could the trial court have instructed on shoplifting as the charged offense and on petty theft as a lesser included offense? In that event, would defendant have been prejudiced by the failure to object?

STATEMENT OF CASE

A complaint filed March 12, 2015, charged appellant with a single count of felony shoplifting, in violation of Penal Code section 459.5.¹ (CT 8.) At the start of the preliminary hearing, held on September 17, 2015, the prosecution told the court that it would be "looking for a bindover" on petty theft with a prior as well. (CT 32.) Defense counsel did not object and the court held appellant to answer on both charges. (CT 43.)

Thus, in an information filed September 28, 2015, the prosecution charged appellant with felony petty theft with a prior (§§ 484, 666) and misdemeanor shoplifting (§ 459.5). (CT 47, 49.) In an amended information filed March 15, 2016, the prosecution charged both counts as felonies. (CT 68, 70.) The information also alleged appellant had suffered one prior strike conviction and served three prior prison terms. (CT 69, 71.) Before trial, the court dismissed the strike allegation pursuant to section 1385. (CT 99, 1 RT 11.)

A jury trial began on August 29, 2016 and concluded the following day. (CT 236-238.) After requesting a read back of testimony and asking three questions regarding the intent element of shoplifting (1 RT 230-239), the jury found appellant guilty of petty theft with a prior but was unable to

¹ All subsequent statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

reach a verdict on the shoplifting charge. (1 RT 243-244.) The prosecution moved to dismiss the shoplifting charge and the court granted the motion. (1 RT 244.)

At a court trial, the court found the prison prior allegations true, as well as an allegation that appellant had been convicted of a registerable offense under section 290 (1 RT 40, 252-254)—a fact that made the theft charge punishable as a felony under section 666, rather than a misdemeanor under section 484.² A sentencing hearing was held on November 9, 2016. (CT 269.) The court sentenced appellant to the middle term of two years on the theft conviction and declined to impose the two prison priors. (2 RT 275.)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 15, 2016. (CT 273.) The Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming the conviction on July 27, 2018. Following a request from the Attorney General, the court ordered its opinion published on August 20, 2018

² At trial, the parties had also stipulated that appellant had a "prior qualifying theft-related offense as required by Penal Code section 666." (1 RT 141.) A defendant must have both a prior theft offense for which he served time in a penal institution, and either (1) a conviction under section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), (2) a registerable offense under section 290, or (3) a conviction for elder abuse under section 368, subdivision (d) or (e), in order to be punished under section 666.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Incident

On February 12, 2015, appellant was observed inside of Wal-Mart placing items on the bottom of a cart and inside of an otherwise empty white Wal-Mart bag. (1 RT 78-80.) Appellant then left the store without paying for the items. (1 RT 81.) An asset protection officer confronted him in the parking lot. (1 RT 83.) Appellant told him he had not paid for the items. (1 RT 83.) The combined value of the items was \$496.37. (1 RT 87.)

After the asset protection officer called the police, Officer Chad Georges responded to the store. (1 RT 88, 121.) According to Georges, appellant told him that he had gone to Wal-Mart to purchase a few small items and only had \$5 with him. (1 RT 126.) Appellant told him he had no intention of stealing anything, but once he was inside he decided that he needed money. (1 RT 126.)

II. Prosecution and Defense Theories

In closing arguments, on the theft charge, the prosecution pointed to appellant's admission to Georges that he intended to take the items without paying for them. (1 RT 191.) On the shoplifting count, the prosecution argued that appellant brought an empty Wal-Mart bag into the store with him, demonstrating that he had a plan to steal the items when he entered the

store, and was therefore guilty of shoplifting in addition to theft. (1 RT 196.)

In response, the defense argued that appellant's act of walking out of the store without paying could have been the result of an absentminded mistake and asked the jury to view Georges' testimony regarding appellant's statement with skepticism because it had not been recorded. (1 RT 207-208, 214.) As to the shoplifting charge, the defense argued that there was no evidence about where the empty bag came from (1 RT 205) and argued that the prosecution did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant had the intent to steal the merchandise when he entered the store (1 RT 216).

In addressing the shoplifting charge in rebuttal, the prosecution argued that a bag would not be "just readily available laying around the store. They're only available at the check-out stands. The defendant must have taken that bag with him." (1 RT 219.)

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 459.5, SUBDIVISION (B), PROHIBITS A PROSECUTOR FROM CHARGING A DEFENDANT WITH SHOPLIFTING AND THEFT OF THE SAME PROPERTY, WITHOUT EXCEPTION.

A. Introduction

The plain language of section 459.5, subdivision (b) requires that an act of shoplifting be charged as such, and prohibits the prosecution from charging a defendant with theft³ of the same property. These points appear undisputed. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal overrode the plain language, finding that a literal application would create an "absurd result." Namely, that prohibiting a theft charge may allow otherwise criminal conduct to go unpunished if the prosecutor is ultimately unable to prove that the conduct constituted shoplifting. Thus, the Court of Appeal interpreted the statute to allow a theft charge whenever the prosecution might be unable to secure a shoplifting conviction. (*People v. Lopez* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 382, 391.) This interpretation must be rejected because it is foreclosed by the plain language, there is no "absurd result" that flows from a literal application, and it would thwart the intent of the voters.

³ As stated above, appellant was charged with and convicted of petty theft with a prior (§ 666) rather than petty theft (§ 484). However, for the sake of clarity, throughout this brief appellant will typically use the more general term "theft." The element that distinguishes petty theft with a prior from petty theft—the existence of certain prior convictions—is not at issue in this appeal.

B. Under the Plain Language of Section 459.5, Subdivision (b), a Prosecutor May not Charge a Defendant with Both Shoplifting and Theft of the Same Property.

1. Legal Principles

"In construing constitutional and statutory provisions, whether enacted by the Legislature or by initiative, the intent of the enacting body is the paramount consideration." (In re Lance W. (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 889.) "Because statutory language generally provides the most reliable indicator of that intent [citation]" (People v. Lawrence (2000) 24 Cal.4th 219, 230), courts first examine the words of the statute, applying their usual, ordinary, and common sense meaning, and construing them in context. (People v. Loeun (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 9). "If there is no ambiguity, then [courts] presume the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (Day v. City of Fontana (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.)4

2. The Plain Language of Section 459.5, Subdivision (b)

Section 459.5, enacted in November of 2014 as part of the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act ("Proposition 47"), created the crime of "shoplifting." Subdivision (a) provides, in relevant part,

⁴ The same rules of construction employed for interpreting statutes apply to interpretation of a voter initiative. (*People v. Rico* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685.)

Notwithstanding Section 459, shoplifting is defined as entering a commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that establishment is open during regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950).

In effect, section 459.5 operated to "carv[e] out" this "lesser crime" from the "preexisting felony" of burglary. (*People v. Martinez* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 647, 651.)⁵

Subdivision (b) places explicit limits on prosecutorial charging decisions with respect to shoplifting and related offenses, stating,

Any act of shoplifting as defined in subdivision (a) shall be charged as shoplifting. No person who is charged with shoplifting may also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property.

(Emphasis added.) This case turns on the meaning of subdivision (b).

By its plain language, subdivision (b) requires prosecution for shoplifting—and shoplifting *alone*—when that provision applies. A prosecutor may not also charge "burglary or theft of the same property." This charging limitation contains no exceptions or qualifiers. In other words, section 459.5, subdivision (b) creates an exception to the general rule under section 954 that "[a]n accusatory pleading may charge two or

⁵ Shoplifting is typically a misdemeanor, but may be charged as a felony when the defendant has either a conviction under section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv) or a conviction for registerable offense under section 290. (§ 459.5, subd. (a).)

more different offenses connected together in their commission, or different statements of the same offense or two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses, under separate counts."

Indeed, the plain meaning of section 459.5, subdivision (b) is not disputed. As the Court of Appeal recognized, "The People acknowledge the literal language of section 459.5, subdivision (b) appears unambiguous." (People v. Lopez, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 389.) Thus, the voters are presumed to have "meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (Day v. City of Fontana, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272.)

3. People v. Gonzales (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858

The meaning of section 459.5, subdivision (b) is confirmed by this Court's decision in *People v. Gonzales* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858. There, the Court made clear that subdivision (b) constitutes an "explicit limitation on charging," that "expressly prohibits alternate charging" and mandates that a "defendant must be charged only with shoplifting when the statute applies." (*Id.* at pp. 876-877.) Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal distinguished *Gonzales*, relying on the fact that it involved a "retroactive" application of section 459.5, subdivision (b) to a request for resentencing, whereas this case involves application at the charging stage. (*People v. Lopez, supra, 26* Cal.App.5th at p. 390.) However, nothing in *Gonzales* suggested the holding was limited to retroactive applications. Indeed, the relevant

language in *Gonzales* comes from a portion of the opinion addressing an argument directly germane to this case.

In *Gonzales*, the defendant had been convicted of second-degree burglary on the theory that he entered a bank with the intent to commit theft by false pretenses (by cashing a forged check). (*People v. Gonzales, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at pp. 862, 864.) The defendant petitioned for recall of his sentence and resentencing under section 1170.18, arguing his conduct would have constituted shoplifting had section 459.5 been in existence at the time of his conviction. (*Ibid.*) The Attorney General's primary argument was that entry into a commercial building with the intent to commit theft by false pretenses, rather than theft by larceny, did not constitute shoplifting under section 459.5. (*Id.* at pp. 868-869.) This Court rejected that argument, finding that the shoplifting statute applies to all forms of theft, not just larceny. (*Id.* at p. 862.)

However, the Attorney General also argued that even if the conduct constituted shoplifting, section 1170.18 still did not apply because the defendant could *also* have been charged with burglary based on a second theory of intent to commit identity theft—an intent distinct from that which would support the shoplifting charge. (*People v. Gonzales, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at p. 876.) The defendant argued that, "even assuming he entered the bank with an intent to commit identity theft, section 459.5, subdivision (b) would

have precluded a felony burglary charge because his conduct *also* constituted shoplifting." (*Id.* at p. 876 [emphasis in original].) This Court agreed with the defendant, stating,

Defendant has the better view. Section 459.5, subdivision (b) requires that any act of shoplifting "shall be charged as shoplifting" and no one charged with shoplifting "may also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property." (Italics added.) A defendant must be charged only with shoplifting when the statute applies. It expressly prohibits alternate charging and ensures only misdemeanor treatment for the underlying described conduct.

(*Ibid.* [emphasis in original].) Thus, *Gonzales* confirms that appellant's interpretation of section 459.5, subdivision (b) is correct.

C. A Literal Application of Section 459.5, Subdivision (b) is Consistent With the Voters' Broader Intent in Passing Proposition 47, and Does Not Lead to Absurd Results.

The Court of Appeal declined to apply the statute literally because it found that doing so would create an absurd result. (*People v. Lopez, supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th 382, 391-392.) It is true that courts do not apply the literal language of a statute when "doing so would lead to absurd results the [enacting body] could not have intended." (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 231.) However, this concept is inapplicable here because the charging limitation is consistent with the overall purposes of Proposition 47 and does not create an absurd result. (*Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1165 [Courts presume that an enacting body

"intended reasonable results consistent with [the statute's] expressed purpose "].)

1. Applying the Literal Language is Consistent with the Purposes of Proposition 47.

The Voter Information Guide for Proposition 47 directly referenced the restriction on charging, as it would relate to burglary, stating,

Under current law, shoplifting property worth \$950 or less (a type of petty theft) is often a misdemeanor. However, such crimes can also be charged as burglary, which is a wobbler. Under this measure, shoplifting property worth \$950 or less would always be a misdemeanor and could not be charged as burglary.

(Official Voter Information Guide ["Voter Guide"], Analysis by Legislative Analyst, Proposition 47, pg. 35.) Though this passage references burglary, it demonstrates that Proposition 47 was adopted with the express intention of limiting charging authority.

This is also demonstrated by reference to one of the arguments made against Proposition 47, which stated, "California has plenty of laws and programs that allow judges and prosecutors to keep first-time, low-level offenders out of jail if it is appropriate. *Prop. 47 would strip judges and prosecutors of that discretion.*" (Voter Guide, Argument Against Proposition 47, pg. 39 [emphasis added].) Thus, voters were directly warned that Proposition 47 would limit prosecutorial discretion, and voted to adopt it regardless.

The act of limiting prosecutorial discretion serves the greater purposes of Proposition 47. "One of Proposition 47's primary purposes is to reduce the number of nonviolent offenders in state prisons, thereby saving money and focusing prison on offenders considered more serious under the terms of the initiative. [Citations.]" (*People v. Gonzales, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at p. 870.) Relatedly, it was also intended to "reduces penalties for certain offenders convicted of nonserious and nonviolent property and drugs crimes." (Voter Guide, Analysis by Legislative Analyst, pg. 35.)

Requiring exclusive prosecution of shoplifting (when it applies)—rather than theft—furthers these goals. This is true specifically as it relates to petty theft with a prior, the alternative charge at issue here. Defendants convicted of the felony form of shoplifting are eligible for a local custody sentence under 1170, subdivision (h). (§ 459.5, subd. (a).) On the other hand, the felony form of petty theft with a prior requires a prison sentence. (§ 666, subd. (a).) Furthermore, the maximum penalty for misdemeanor shoplifting (six months) is half that of misdemeanor petty theft with a prior (one year). (§§ 19, 490, 666, subd. (a).) Thus, with respect to the alternative theft charge at issue here, the charging limitation both reduces the number of nonviolent offenders in prison and reduces the penalty for the offense.

⁶ Petty theft with a prior may be charged as either a felony or misdemeanor. (§ 666, subd. (a).)

Restricting alternate charging of shoplifting and theft of the same property also prevents a defendant from incurring multiple convictions for a single course of conduct—thereby reducing the overall consequences of conviction that flow from nonviolent property crimes.⁷ And, requiring a prosecutor to proceed with a single charge also simplifies plea negotiations and trial proceedings, thereby saving money and resources for more serious cases or other priorities. Both of these results are consistent with the purposes of lessening punishment for minor property crimes and shifting resources to other priorities. (Voter Guide, Analysis by Legislative Analyst, pg. 35 ["(T)he measure requires any state savings that result from the measure be spent to support truancy (unexcused absences) prevention, mental health and substance abuse treatment, and victim services."].)

2. The Doctrine of "Absurd Results" is Reserved for a Narrow Category of Cases.

Courts may not ignore the literal language of statute merely because the results are "troubling," "unwise," or "disagreeable." (*In re D.B.* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 941, 944, 948.) Nor is it sufficient that "reasonable minds may

⁷ In most cases, Penal Code section 654 would nonetheless prevent punishment for both shoplifting and theft. (See *People v. Islas* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 116, 130 ["[w]hen a defendant is convicted of burglary and the intended felony underlying the burglary, section 654 prohibits punishment for both crimes"].) But, without the limits of section 459.5, subdivision (b), a defendant could still suffer multiple convictions.

debate the wisdom of the chosen approach." (Id. at p. 948.) Instead, the results must be so unreasonable that the enacting body could not have intended them. (Ibid.)

Cases from this Court emphasize that judicial rewriting of statutes must be done with caution. (See, e.g., *People v. Weidert* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 843 ["When statutory language is unambiguous, we must follow its plain meaning whatever may be thought of the wisdom, expediency, or policy of the act, even if it appears probable that a different object was in the mind of the legislature."]; *California Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified Sch. Dist.* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 62, 633 ["It cannot be too often repeated that due respect for the political branches of our government requires us to interpret the laws in accordance with the expressed intention of the Legislature. This court has no power to rewrite the statute so as to make it conform to a presumed intention which is not expressed."].)

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