In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY LOPEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S250&PREME COURT FILED

JUN 12 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F074581 Tulare County Superior Court, Case No. VCF314447 The Honorable Kathryn T. Montejano, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

That is not to say that the prosecutor has unfettered discretion in her charging decisions. Under existing law, a prosecutor may not charge a suspect with a crime without probable cause. (*Gerstein v. Pugh* (1975) 420 U.S. 103, 121, fn. 22; *People v. Spicer* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1373-1374; accord, *Rideout v. Superior Court of Santa Clara County* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 471, 474.) Indeed, a prosecutor has an ethical duty to charge only those offenses she believes she can prove beyond a reasonable doubt. (See *People v. Catlin* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 109 ["A prosecutor abides by elementary standards of fair play and decency by refusing to seek indictments until he or she is completely satisfied the defendant should be prosecuted and the office of the prosecutor will be able to promptly establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt"], internal quotation marks omitted.) The prosecutor's charging discretion is necessarily guided by these considerations.

2. Because the literal language of section 459.5 is ambiguous as applied when it is unclear whether a defendant had a preformed intent to steal, a prosecutor retains discretion to decide which offense to charge and pursue

Initially, section 459.5 appears unambiguous when read literally: "Any act of shoplifting as defined in subdivision (a) shall be charged as shoplifting. No person who is charged with shoplifting may also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property." (§ 459.5, subd. (b).) A prosecutor may charge only shoplifting when the defendant engages in conduct that constitutes shoplifting, as defined by subdivision (a). (§ 459.5, subd. (b).) When a prosecutor charges shoplifting, she may not also charge that defendant in separate counts of theft or burglary of the same property. (*Ibid.*) In short, when the evidence demonstrates at the time of charging that the defendant's conduct constitutes an "act of shoplifting," section 459.5 mandates the prosecutor to charge shoplifting rather than burglary or

theft. (*Ibid.*) The statute thus presumes that the evidence will be clear at the time of charging whether a defendant's conduct constitutes shoplifting.

But the evidence available to the prosecutor may be ambiguous regarding when the defendant formed the intent to commit larceny, instilling doubt as to how to charge the defendant's conduct and under which statute. Under these facts, section 459.5 is ambiguous as applied. (See *In re Reeves*, supra, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 770-771 [statute is ambiguous when "effort to apply this seemingly plain statute to the case at hand reveals ambiguities the Legislature apparently did not foresee"].) In other words, does the defendant's conduct in fact constitute shoplifting, whether it be only the burglarious preformed "intent to commit larceny" portion of the shoplifting statute or also the completed taking portion of the statute? Or does his conduct constitute theft? In these uncertain circumstances, the shoplifting statute reveals an unforeseen and absurd result if interpreted, as appellant suggests, to preclude the prosecutor at the initial charging stage from charging the burglarious and actual taking theories of liability for shoplifting or charging merely petty theft, either as defined by the shoplifting statute or as defined by the theft statutes.

The instant case particularly demonstrates this ambiguity. After the prosecutor reviewed the limited evidence available at the time she filed the original complaint, she charged appellant with shoplifting in the specific "or" language contained in section 459.5; specifically, that the property was "taken *or* intended to be taken." (CT 8, italics added.) At the preliminary hearing, she presented evidence showing that appellant had placed items from Walmart into a Walmart bag. (CT 37.) However, testimony also revealed that appellant had told Officer Georges that he entered Walmart to purchase items and then decided to steal items. (CT 40.) On cross-examination, Georges clarified that appellant had not said whether he had intended to take the items when he entered the store. (CT 40.) This

showed that appellant may have formed his intent to steal *after* entering Walmart, which would have shown his conduct to be petty theft. Because it had become ambiguous whether appellant in fact committed shoplifting, via entry with burglarious intent or via theft of property, the prosecutor was thus faced with a dilemma: what offense, or offenses, could she charge under the plain language of section 459.5?

When it is ambiguous whether a defendant committed shoplifting based solely on intent, shoplifting via theft, or only petty theft, section 459.5 retains a prosecutor's traditional charging discretion in choosing which offense to charge and in drafting the charging language accordingly. This fundamental aspect of prosecutorial discretion is based on the prosecutor's duty to charge only what she believes she can prove beyond a reasonable doubt. (People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 109; People v. Birks, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 134.) Thus, if the prosecutor has evidence she believes is sufficient to obtain a conviction for shoplifting, under either a burglary or a theft theory, it is well within her discretion to charge shoplifting under both theories; if she believes the evidence is sufficient only to obtain a conviction for petty theft, she may charge petty theft instead of shoplifting. In the same vein, the prosecutor may subsequently move to amend the charges to conform to the proof if subsequent evidence demonstrates that the defendant committed an uncharged offense.⁵ Section 459.5, however, does not allow the prosecutor to charge both shoplifting and petty theft in separate counts, even in the alternative, simply because the evidence supports a finding of guilt on either offense—such an

⁵ A circumstance in which a prosecutor may need to amend charges to conform to proof is discussed *post*, in Argument III.B.1. Similarly, her discretion to do so is discussed *post*, in Arguments III.B.1 and III.B.2.

approach directly contravenes the express prohibition contained in section 459.5, subdivision (b).

This interpretation is consistent with the language of section 459.5, effectuates the voters' intent behind Proposition 47, and preserves the prosecutor's duty to charge a case according to the evidence. As discussed ante in Argument I.C, Proposition 47 was intended to reduce penalties for certain criminal conduct by limiting a prosecutor's discretion to charge felonies instead of misdemeanors but not to preclude penalties for conduct when there is evidence to support a charge that the prosecutor believes can be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.⁶ Consistent with that purpose, section 459.5 was intended to prevent prosecutors from charging burglary, with its commensurate wobbler punishment, where the felonious intent to support the burglary encompassed only an intent to commit larceny from a commercial establishment of items worth \$950 or less. (Official Voter Information Guide, Analysis by Legislative Analyst, p. 35.) By allowing the prosecutor to initially charge either shoplifting under both a burglary and theft theory of liability or only petty theft, the defendant avoids being charged with burglary, which previously could have been prosecuted as a misdemeanor or felony. (§ 459.5, subd. (b).) And, in this manner, the prosecutor properly exercises her traditional charging discretion by charging only the offense she believes she can prove beyond a reasonable doubt, whether that be shoplifting or petty theft. (People v. Catlin, supra,

⁶ Notably, appellant does not fall within the spirit of Proposition 47's intended purpose to reduce punishment for certain offenders, given his prior convictions and section 290 registration that made his current offenses ineligible to be designated as misdemeanors under Proposition 47. (See § 459.5, subd. (a) ["Shoplifting shall be punished as a misdemeanor, except that a person with one or more prior convictions . . . for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 290 may be punished pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170"].)

26 Cal.4th at p. 109; *People v. Birks*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 134.) This approach effectuates the voters' intent in enacting Proposition 47 and preserves the prosecutor's traditional charging discretion.

As applicable in this case, the prosecutor properly exercised her charging discretion initially in choosing to charge appellant with shoplifting under section 459.5. When evidence was adduced at the preliminary hearing tending to show that appellant had formed his intent to steal after he entered the Walmart store, the prosecutor could have again exercised her charging discretion to move to amend the charges to conform to the proof. That is, she could have charged either petty theft only or she could have charged shoplifting under both theories of liability contained in the shoplifting statute if she believed she could still prove the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Either decision would have been a proper exercise of prosecutorial discretion under these circumstances.

E. Current Law Protects Against Potential Abuses of Prosecutorial Charging Decisions Without Improperly Relinquishing the Jury's Factfinding Duties to the Trial Court

Appellant argues that, when the element of intent is in question, as in this case, the prosecutor may simply charge the defendant with theft and, if the defendant objects, the trial court can resolve the matter during pretrial proceedings. (AOB 25.) To the extent appellant is suggesting that the trial court itself should determine whether the defendant's intent was to commit shoplifting or theft at the charging stage, he is mistaken. Appellant's suggested procedure would improperly elevate the trial court, prior to any trial, to the role of sole factfinder in determining a defendant's guilt right at the outset.

Instead, should a defendant demur to a charge of theft on the grounds that section 459.5 precludes such a charge when "an act of shoplifting" has occurred, the trial court's involvement extends only to a determination as to

whether there is reasonable or probable cause—"such a state of facts as would lead a man of ordinary caution or prudence to believe, and conscientiously entertain a strong suspicion of the guilt of the accused" (People v. Mower (2002) 28 Cal.4th 457, 473)—to believe the defendant committed only theft. As discussed ante in Argument I.D.1, existing law prohibits a prosecutor from charging a suspect with a crime without probable cause. (Gerstein v. Pugh, supra, 420 U.S. at p. 121, fn. 22; People v. Spicer, supra, 235 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1373-1374.) Thus, the proper response to a demurrer based on section 459.5 is for the trial court to determine, as it has always done, whether there is probable cause to believe the defendant has committed the charged crime, and then allow the prosecutor to choose the appropriate offense to charge. Under this approach, the trial court appropriately would operate as a gatekeeper, allowing only those charges supported by probable cause to proceed. This approach would avoid elevating the trial court, over the jury, to the role of ultimate factfinder. Yet, it would also eliminate any concern (see AOB 29) that a prosecutor would be able to circumvent the intent of Proposition 47 and the statute itself during the charging process.

As applicable in this particular case, had appellant objected to the charging of both shoplifting and theft of the same property based on section 459.5, the trial court could have determined, based on the evidence before it, whether there was probable cause to believe appellant had committed only theft. In this case, because substantial evidence adduced at the preliminary hearing supported *either* shoplifting under either theory of liability or theft, there was probable cause for both offenses. Thus, the trial court could have

⁷ As argued *post* in Argument II, a defendant bears the burden of challenging the charges brought against him based on section 459.5 and must demur in order to preserve that issue for appeal.

permitted the prosecution to proceed by exercising her discretion to select which offense to charge based on what she believed she could prove beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Catlin, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at p. 109.)

In sum, a defendant may demur to a charge of theft when he believes he has been incorrectly charged in violation of section 459.5's language requiring a prosecutor to charge shoplifting when the offending conduct constitutes an "act of shoplifting." In turn, the trial court may determine whether the charge of theft is supported by probable cause. If probable cause supports the theft offense, the prosecutor may exercise her discretion to choose which offense to charge based on what she believes she can prove beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. ALTHOUGH SECTION 459.5 PROHIBITS THE PROSECUTION FROM CHARGING BOTH SHOPLIFTING AND THEFT OF THE SAME PROPERTY, APPELLANT NONETHELESS FORFEITED HIS CLAIM BY FAILING TO DEMUR TO THE INFORMATION

This Court asked the parties to address various supplemental issues, including whether appellant had forfeited, by failing to object below, his argument that section 459.5, subdivision (b), prohibits the prosecution from charging both shoplifting and theft of the same property. The answer is yes—by failing to object or demur to the information, appellant forfeited his claim of charging error on appeal.

Generally, a defendant's failure to object to an amendment of the information forfeits his right to assert the error on appeal. (*People v. Collins* (1963) 217 Cal.App.2d 310, 313 [failure to object to amendment of information in adding additional charge waived right to assert error]; *People v. Spencer* (1972) 22 Cal.App.3d 786, 799 ["claim that the court erred in ordering the filing of an amended information cannot be raised for the first time on appeal"].) Section 1004, subparagraph 5, permits a defendant to demur to the information when "it contains matter which, if true, would constitute a legal justification or excuse of the offense charged,

or other legal bar to the prosecution." (§ 1004, par. 5, italics added.)
"When any of the objections mentioned in Section 1004 appears on the face of the accusatory pleading, it can be taken only by demurrer, and failure so to take it shall be deemed a waiver thereof, except that the objection to the jurisdiction of the court and the objection that the facts stated do not constitute a public offense may be taken by motion in arrest of judgment."

(§ 1012.)

"The purpose of the waiver rule is twofold. First, it permits correction of pleading defects prior to trial, thereby promoting efficiency and conserving judicial resources. Second, it prevents '[a] defendant from speculating on the result of the trial and raising the objection after an unfavorable verdict.' [Citation.] This rule is of long standing; . . . a criminal defendant 'cannot, under our system, lie by until he shall see the result of a trial of his case on the merits and then be permitted to take advantage of a mere uncertainty in the indictment by motion in arrest of judgment.' [Citation.]" (*People v. Jennings* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 334, 357.) Had appellant pointed out the alleged error, the trial court could have addressed the matter. But because appellant here did not demur to the information or otherwise object to the charging of both shoplifting and petty theft, his claim is forfeited on appeal. (§ 1012.)

People v. Goldman (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 950 (Goldman) is instructive on this point. There, the defendant molested his nieces over a period of several years. (Id. at p. 952.) He was charged with and convicted of discrete sexual offenses and one count of continuous sexual abuse under section 288.5, subdivision (a). (Ibid.) On appeal, the defendant argued that he had been illegally convicted of a discrete sexual offense against a victim that had occurred during the same time period as alleged for the continuous

sexual abuse. (*Id.* at p. 954.) The defendant pointed to the language in section 288.5, subdivision (c),⁸ which prohibits the charging of discrete sexual offenses against the same victim for the same period of time unless the discrete sexual offenses are charged in the alternative. (*Id.* at pp. 954-955.)

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